BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

TUESDAY 6TH JUNE 2023
AT 6.00 P.M.

PARKSIDE SUITE - PARKSIDE

MEMBERS: Councillors A. Bailes, R. Bailes, A. M. Dale, E. M. S. Gray,
R. J. Hunter, B. Kumar, P. M. McDonald, S. T. Nock,
S. A. Robinson, H. D. N. Rone-Clarke and J. D. Stanley

AGENDA

Election of Chairman

Election of Vice-Chairman

Apologies for Absence and Named Substitutes

Declarations of Interest and Whipping Arrangements

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm
the nature of those interests.

Overview and Scrutiny Board Annual Report 2022-23 (Pages 7 - 38)

Overview and Scrutiny Board - Recommendation Tracker for 2022-23
(Pages 39 - 44)

Notice of Motion - Request to Investigate (Pages 45 - 48)
a) Notice of Motion — Councillor P. McDonald
Finance and Budget Working Group - Membership Report (Pages 49 - 54)

Task Group Updates



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Update
Cabinet Work Programme

The next edition of the Cabinet Work Programme will be published on 2
June, after the publication of the main agenda pack for this meeting. A copy of
the Cabinet Work Programme will therefore be included in a supplementary
papers pack.

Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme (Pages 55 - 62)

To consider, and if considered appropriate, to pass the following
resolution to exclude the public from the meeting during the
consideration of item(s) of business containing exempt information:-

"RESOLVED: that under Section 100 | of the Local Government Act 1972, as
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of
the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they involve(s) the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part | of Schedule 12A to
the Act, as amended, the relevant paragraph of that part, in each case, being
as set out below, and that it is in the public interest to do so:-

Item No. Paragraph(s)

14 3

To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meetings of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board held on 13th March 2023 and 29th March 2023 (Pages
63 - 82)

K. DICKS
Chief Executive
Parkside
Market Street
BROMSGROVE
Worcestershire
B61 8DA

26th May 2023



If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact
Mat Sliwinski

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA
Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3095

Email: mateusz.sliwinski@bromsqgroveandredditch.gov.uk

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE
MEETINGS

Please note that this is a public meeting.

You are able to see the agenda for the meeting on the Committee Pages
of the Council’s website.

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers,
please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above.

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON

Meeting attendees and members of the public are encouraged not to attend
the meeting if they have common cold symptoms or any of the following
common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high
temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste.

PUBLIC SPEAKING

The usual process for public speaking at Committee meetings will continue to
be followed subject to some adjustments which allow written statements to be
read out on behalf of residents at meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Board.

Notes:

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when the
Committee might have to move into closed session to consider exempt or
confidential information. For agenda items that are exempt, the public are
excluded.


mailto:mateusz.sliwinski@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk




Bromsgrove
District Council

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of
press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain
documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further
broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

» You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before
the date of the meeting.

» You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.

» You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on
which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date
of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.

» An electronic register stating the names and addresses and
electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of
all Committees etc. is available on our website.

» A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to
items to be considered in public will be made available to the public
attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards.

» You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council
has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers
concerned, as detailed in the Council’'s Constitution, Scheme of
Delegation.

You can access the following documents:
» Meeting Agendas
» Meeting Minutes

> The Council’s Constitution

at www.bromsagrove.gov.uk



http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Bromsgrove District Council Legal, Equalities & Democratic Services

Overview and Scrutiny
Annual Report

2022-2023 ;384 Bromsgrove
gawy District Council

N\
' www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

Page 7



Agenda Iltem 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Agenda Iltem 5

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2022-2023

CONTENTS
Page Number

Foreword from the Chairman 5
Introduction 6
Membership 7
The Role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 8
Reports Considered by the Board 9
Worcestershire Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 27
Working Groups — Update 28
Task Group Investigations & Short, Sharp Reviews Carried Out 29
Conclusion 30
Further Information 31

Page 9



Agenda Iltem 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Agenda Iltem 5

FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Welcome to Bromsgrove District Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board annual
report for 2022/23.

The role of the Board is to cast a critical eye across the Council by scrutinising
impartially and apolitically its operation and service provision for the benefit of
residents.

It was nice to return to normality after the Covid years with all Board meetings being
held in person. Task and working groups tended to continue using the virtual
medium for meetings.

Over the last year topics investigated, amongst others, have included:
Scrutiny of the Levelling Up fund awarded to the Council

Air quality across the district and its measurement

Council action on homelessness

UK Shared Prosperity Fund mechanism for allocation

The council's carbon reduction strategy

The district wide CCTV system

Annual review of the community safety partnership.

One task group was undertaken during the year: fuel poverty. The task group was
well supported by Officers and my thanks also goes to the Cabinet Member with
responsibility for Strategic Housing and Health and Well Being for her support. The
final report was well received. The Finance and Budget Working Group continued to
meet regularly. However, the Board decided the Corporate Performance Working
Group was no longer necessary and instead receives a six-monthly corporate
performance report. Many thanks to those who chaired and contributed to the task
and working groups.

During the year Jo Gresham, the Board’s Democratic Services Officer was promoted
to another role within the Council, | would like to take this opportunity to thank her for
her outstanding service to the Board and to welcome Mateusz Sliwinski as her
replacement.

| would also like to thank all Board members for their work throughout the year and
Officers of the Council who have contributed to the Board’s work, in particular
Councillor Jo Till. our able Vice Chairman. My thanks also go to Cabinet Members
for their regular attendance and input to the Board’s deliberations.

Councillor Charles Hotham
Chairman

Page 11



Agenda Iltem 5

INTRODUCTION

We are pleased to present the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report which outlines
our work during 2022-2023 (this covers the municipal year from May 2022 to April
2023) and provides general information on the overview and scrutiny processes at
Bromsgrove District Council.

Overview and Scrutiny is a key part of the democratic decision-making process in local
Councils, where elected Councillors outside of the Cabinet can contribute to shaping
Council policy, community well-being and accountability. This is done by reviewing
Council services and policies, community issues and key decisions and making
recommendations for improvement.

The four key principles of Overview and Scrutiny, as defined by the Centre for
Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) the lead organisation supporting Overview and
Scrutiny in the country, are:

» provide constructive “critical friend” challenge;
» amplify the voice and concerns of the public
> be led by independent people who take responsibility for their role
» drive improvement in public services.
The Members of the Board consider these principles when selecting topics to

investigate whether it is holding the Cabinet to account, reviewing policies, policy
development or scrutiny of external bodies.

Page 12



Agenda Iltem 5

MEMBERSHIP (The Board is made up of 11 Members)

Councillor Charles Hotham Councillor Jo-Anne Till
Chairman Vice-Chairman

¥
Councillor Sue Baxter Councillor Andrew Councillor Steve Councillor Richard
Beaumont Colella Deeming

Councillor Rob Hunter Councillor Helen Jones Councillor Adrian Kriss

Councillor Peter McDonald Councillor Caroline Spencer
until January 2023

Page 13



Agenda Iltem 5

THE ROLE OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

Overview and Scrutiny is a key part of the Council’s political structure, and it plays a
vital role in improving the services that people of the District use, whether as a resident,
employed here or just visiting. It does not just look at the way the Council carries out
its services, it can look at anything which affects the lives of people within the District,
and it allows citizens to have a greater say in Council matters.

Overview and Scrutiny allows Councillors to review and scrutinise decisions, look at
existing practices and make recommendations to help ensure the residents of
Bromsgrove District receive excellent services. The aim is to ensure Overview and
Scrutiny adds value to the Council’s decision-making process and makes a positive
contribution towards policy development.

The detailed terms of reference and procedure rules for the Overview and Scrutiny
Board can be found at Part 5 and Part 12 of the Council’s Constitution. The Council’s
Constitution can be accessed by using the following link.

Link to the Constitution of Bromsgrove District Council

(Please click on the latest date to access the most recent version of the Council’s
constitution).

Meetings

Throughout 2022-23, Overview and Scrutiny Board meetings had been taking place
in person and were open to the public to attend at Parkside Hall in Bromsgrove.
Meetings are live streamed if there is significant local interest in the items being
considered at Overview and Scrutiny Board meetings. Meetings of scrutiny Task
Groups and Working Groups continue to be held remotely, since these meetings are
private and are not live streamed.

Page 14


https://moderngovwebpublic.bromsgrove.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=329&Year=0

Agenda Iltem 5

REPORTS CONSIDERED BY THE BOARD

The Board continues to receive updates in order to monitor the progress of
recommendations it has made, through the Recommendation Tracker. This contains
both recommendations put forward by Task Groups and accepted by the Cabinet,
together with recommendations put forward by the Board itself. In respect of Task
Groups, the Board does, where necessary, receive an update report 12 months
following acceptance of its recommendations.

During the course of the year the Board received a number of reports and made a
number of recommendations. There has been continued support from the relevant
Portfolio Holders this year, with regular attendance from a number of them when a
report which relates to their portfolio has been presented to the Board. This has given
them an opportunity to hear first-hand the debate and ideas that the Board has put
forwmard. On a number of occasions, whilst the Board has not made any
recommendations in respect of an item, it has endorsed and supported
recommendations which would be considered by Cabinet at its meeting.

30th May 2022

Corporate Performance Update - Performance Dashboard

As was agreed during the previous municipal year the Board considered matters in
respect of Corporate Performance at Board level during 2022/23. At the meeting held
on 30" May 2022 Officers assisting in the development of the new dashboard
presented an update for Members’ consideration. It was noted that the previous
system was still available but was over a decade old and technically no longer fit for
purpose. The new system would use more modern tools for accessing data.

It was explained that the current legacy dashboard had a number of technical
limitations and a project had been set up to replace this with a modern more up to date
dashboard. Initially the new dashboard would concentrate on the strategic measures
in line with the Council Plan, touching on operational measures as part of the ongoing
design.

In respect of timescales for implementation of the dashboard it was anticipated that it
would be rolled out to officers and Councillors by the end of the year.

As part of consideration of the item, Members were given a demonstration of the
development of the new dashboard to date and how it was envisaged it would be used.

Levelling Up Phase 1 Funding - Pre-Scrutiny

The Levelling Up Phase 1 Funding report was pre-scrutinised at this meeting, primarily
from a funding perspective.

The update on progress to date was outlined for Members information. The
recommendation included in the report requested delegated authority be given to the
Head of Planning, Regeneration and Leisure Services in order to spend up to

9
Page 15



Agenda Iltem 5

budgeted sum of £2.266m on the demolition of the Windsor Street site and the
engagement of a design and build contractor for the Market Hall site.

At this meeting Councillor K. May provided details around the award of the Levelling
Up funds and it being fundamental to further development across the District. During
a detailed discussion procurement of contractors was discussed and the procurement
process that was to be undertaken.

There were some concerns raised by Members in respect of the inclusion of the
amount of £2.266m within recommendation 2 of the report. It was thought that the
inclusion of an actual amount could potentially be compromise a cost effective tender
for the projects. It was with this in the mind that the following amendment to the Cabinet
recommendation was made:

‘that authority be delegated to the Head of Planning, Regeneration and Leisure
Services and the Executive Director of Resources to proceed to spend the Levelling
Up Fund allocation up to a total of £2.266m on the required demolition and remediation
works at the Windsor Street site and to engage a design and build contractor on the
Market Hall site:”

This recommendation was agreed by Cabinet at its meeting held on 1t June 2022.

Council Plan (Including Recovery and Restoration Plan) - Pre-Scrutiny

The addendum to the existing Council Plan was presented at this meeting and a brief
overview of the report was provided to the Board.

It was noted that the Council Plan had been put in place prior to the pandemic. A
workshop had been held with the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Cabinet
Members in 2021 to ensure that the Council’s strategic purposes and measures
remained relevant in a post pandemic world. There had been no changes to the
majority of the Council’s priorities and milestones. However, there was a significant
change in respect of the Green Thread, which had become a priority in its own right,
with its own set of focal points. The addendum should be considered side by side with
the Council Plan, which would be reviewed fully in 2023.

Members were reminded that the Recovery and Restoration Plan had been put in
place as a response to the pandemic and the majority of this had now been completed,
any remaining areas had been picked up within the Council Plan.

5t July 2022

Air Quality Annual Update

The Principal Officer (Planning & Pollution Control) from Worcestershire Regulatory
Services presented the update on Air Quality. Included in the update were the
following areas:

e DEFRA Annual Status Report 2022

10
Page 16



Agenda Iltem 5

e Actions Update — AQAP improvements
e Legislative Changes

e Air Quality Standards

e Trends in Monitoring

During a detailed discussion Members highlighted the importance of having clean air
and the impact of air pollution, not just on people, but the wider impact on other
services such as the NHS. In addition to this the importance of monitoring and the
benefits of real time data was highlighted by Members. It was with this in mind that the
following recommendation was agreed by the Board:

‘that Cabinet invite Richard Williams, Principal Officer (Planning & Pollution Control),
Worcestershire Regulatory Services, to a meeting to present information on Electro
Chemical Devices, which provide real time information on air pollution. With a view to
Cabinet looking at the cost implications, advantages, and viability of installing an
Electro Chemical Device in a pilot scheme in the District to assess the advantages of
using such equipment.”

This recommendation was considered by Cabinet at its meeting held on 12 October
2022 where a further presentation was given my Mr. Williams. He explained that there
were new options for monitoring, including chemical based testing that was mobile
and could be deployed in different locations as needed. Although there were financial
implications of £4,000 to purchase and £2,000 to maintain the equipment, Cabinet
agreed to the recommendation of installing an Electro Chemical Device as
recommended by the Board.

Housing Enforcement Powers in the Private Rented Sector

The Chairman welcomed the Private Sector Housing Team Leader and the Housing
Development and Enabling Manager, together with Councillor S. Webb, as Portfolio
Holder for Housing Strategy.

An overview was provided of the Private Rented Sector legislation. Members were
advised that there was limited data available on the range of enforcement which were
undertaken in the District, both informally and formally.

The following matters were discussed in detail during consideration of this item:

e Smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms in properties.

e Legislation on minimum energy performance certificate (EPC) rating
requirements for properties to be privately let

e Legal definition of a landlord and park homes (including applying EPC rating
legislation to such homes.

e Frequency with which property standards were monitored. Members were
advised that the resources were not available to do pro-active assessment, but
the team would respond to complaints about properties.

e Complaints about properties and fear of tenants to report issues with properties.

e Options for resolving tenants’ complaints about property standards including
informal route and prosecution.

e Awareness about legislation and property standards required by landlords. It
was noted that in many cases landlords were unaware of standards required

11
Page 17



Agenda Iltem 5

and compliance issues were resolved through Officers explaining the
requirements to the landlord after which they would comply.

e Tenants’ legal rights and resources to help people. It was noted that a great
deal of information was available on the Council’'s website and Officers would
help and support them when needed. There was also information about how to
contact the Tenancy Association and information was promoted through the
Council Tax leaflets. Additionally, the team worked closely with the Citizens
Advice Bureau.

e Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) including legislation that covered these.
Current estimate for the number of HMOs in Bromsgrove was around 65.

11th October 2022

Worcestershire Homelessness And Rough Sleeping Strateqy - Pre-Scrutiny

The Housing Strategy and Enabling Manager and the Housing Development and
Enabling Manager presented a detailed presentation on the development of
Worcestershire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-25 and Action
Plan. It was noted that the Homelessness Act 2002 placed a duty on all housing
authorities to have an up-to-date homelessness strategy in place and the current
Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy was due to expire on 315t December 2022. It
was noted that subject to approval of the Strategy by Cabinet, a public consultation on
the draft Worcestershire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-25 would
be held from 17" October to 4" December 2022.

Members discussed in detail a number of areas related to the Strategy and homeless
in the District, and matters discussed included:

e Variation in funding allocated to local authorities through the Government’s
Homeless Prevention Fund for 2022/23

e Clarification around the Relief Duty.

e Trends in the number of rough sleepers in Bromsgrove including a decline in
numbers during the Covid-19 pandemic.

e Initiatives that were successful in reducing numbers of rough sleepers in the
District, such as No First and No Second Night Out accommodation, which
provided support above statutory duty.

¢ Ability of the services to respond to increased demand.

e Units of emergency temporary accommodation (TA) available in Bromsgrove

e Increase in the number of evictions from private sector accommodation due to
the end of an embargo on Section 21 notice evictions.

e Reporting cases of rough sleeping and delays when reporting cases of rough
sleeping to Streetlink to report rough sleeping. It was advised to report cases
through the Streetlink website as any information submitted this way was
logged on the central government website and alerted all local agencies, which
enabled a coordinated, multiagency response.

12
Page 18



Agenda Iltem 5

e Other avenues to report rough sleeping/homelessness cases including
feasibility of a 24-hour helpline.

e The issue of custody leavers being released on Fridays and a possibility of
changing this policy on the national level.

e Mental Health Grant. The Worcestershire County Council (WCC) was not
successful in the first round of bidding and another bid had been submitted by
the public health team at WCC. Officers explained that, if successful, the grant
would provide enough funds for appointment of only one health worker and
other avenues were available to the Council to bid for larger funding.

Members requested that a Homelessness Services leaflet containing contact details
of various support organisations be produced by the Council and that a local 24-hour
contact number for reporting rough sleeping and homelessness cases be provided to
Members. The recommendations of the Cabinet report were endorsed by the Board.

24th October 2022

Levelling Up Funding Update

A detailed update was received with respect to progress in the delivery of the Levelling
Up Fund (LUF) projects (LUF0297) in Bromsgrove Town Centre (the Windsor Street
and the Former Market Hall sites). This update covered the period between April and
August 2022.

The updates on the Windsor Street Site (former Fire Station) included the following:

e The Council purchased the site from the Herefordshire and Worcestershire Fire
and Rescue Service (HWFRS) and Worcestershire County Council (WCC) at a
cost of £1.806m. It was noted this was below the original asking price of £2.4m.

e The direct cost to the Council of purchasing the Site was £285k, the remaining
balance covered from the Levelling Up Fund.

e The freehold acquisition of the site enabled feasibility works to commence.

e The aim of the Windsor Street Site redevelopment was to deliver residential-
led mixed housing which would include 29 town houses. It was confirmed that
the residual land value stood at £1.90m (as of April 2022).

e The project was at the stage of that pre-development remediation works and
building works would not commence on the Site until the remediation strategy
and the environmental method statement had been fully approved by the
Environment Agency (EA).

e Itwas currently planned that an operating lease would be granted to an operator
once redevelopment had concluded. Site plan to resell the Site once
redevelopment was completed. At present, an appraisal process was taking
place with regards to finding a suitable operator.

e |t was explained that parts of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) funding
could be redirected towards either of the Levelling Up Fund projects, but such
change would need approval of the Bromsgrove Partnership Board which
oversaw the UKSPF funding. Authorities were nonetheless advised to prepare

13
Page 19



Agenda Iltem 5

reserve allocations from operational costs to ensure any overspends could be
managed without redirecting funding from or to UKSPF projects.

The Board received updates on the Former Market Hall Site project as follows:

e Caution had to be exercised in this development as part of the Site lied in a
conservation area and there was a landmark building adjacent to the Site.

e Cost was the main risk to the project delivery, exacerbated by the current
inflationary pressures. Another risk was the short timeframe for planning
submission as the deadline for this Site was March 2023. Public engagement
would therefore need to commence immediately following the appointment of a
multidisciplinary team in December 2022.

e Results of the survey of the creative business sector on the preferred uses for
the Market Hall Site showed support for several different uses of the Site
including as multifunctional community space, for creative studios, and
workshop spaces.

e The soft market testing undertaken in July 2022 confirmed there was much
interest for flexible workspace in the West Midlands.

e It was now recommended that a multidisciplinary design team (Multi-dis DT) be
appointed for this project, as opposed to a contractor-led design team, from
RIBA stage 2. This would enable the Council to avoid entering into an early
agreement with a contractor and provided time to develop the project brief to a
sufficient level before the document was released to the market.

e The Board requested to see a risk register for both Levelling Up Fund projects
in order to fully understand the risk implications. Officers undertook to provide
this to Members and reported that projects risks were monitored through
quarterly risk reports which were being submitted to the Interim Section 151
Officer for sign-off and through bi-weekly meetings of the Levelling Up Projects
Governance Board.

e It was currently envisaged that the ground floor of the proposed building would
be occupied by commercial premises including food and beverage with space
devoted for temporary exhibitions.

e It was impressed that any design proposals for the Site would need to be
justifiable in terms of rental income generation to ensure the Site could
operate without subsidy once in operation.

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Update

The Board was updated on the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) in Bromsgrove
as follows:

e Bromsgrove had been allocated a total of £2,805,712 from the UKSPF,
available for a three-year period, from 2022/23 to 2024/25.

e The level of funding received would increase in each of the three years from
£340,499 in 2022/23 to £1.784 million in 2024/25.

e The Government identified three investment priorities of Community and Place,
Supporting Local Business, and People and Skills, which needed to be
addressed with the use of UKSPF funding. Most of the funding was allocated

14
Page 20



Agenda Iltem 5

to year three of the UKSPF programme as this would be the only year in which
funding would be available for the People and Skills priority.

e The Investment Plan submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities (DLUHC) detailed 23 interventions, which were broad areas
of investment where the fund would be spent in Bromsgrove. These
interventions were spread across the three investment priorities. It was
highlighted that the Council was not required to include details of any specific
projects in the Investment Plan.

e The Government had provided an indicative date for issuing approvals for the
Investment Plan of October 2022 onwards. Once approved, the Council was
required to spend the funds on the interventions as submitted in the Investment
Plan.

e As the initial call for projects had been open for a limited time only, a second
call for projects had been undertaken for organisations to submit specific project
proposals by 14" November 2022.

During the debate following presentation of the reports on this item, the following
issues were discussed:

e Governance arrangements for managing the UKSPF within the District were
explained. The Bromsgrove Partnership oversaw the development of the
Investment Plan and would make decisions on project selection in its capacity
as the local partnership group for managing the fund.

e UKSPF project selection criteria. It was explained that once the second call for
projects had closed, all project proposal submissions would be assessed by a
sub-committee of the Bromsgrove Partnership Board against strategic fit,
deliverability, and value for money criteria. The Sub-Committee of the
Partnership Board would then make recommendations to the main Board
regarding which projects should be selected.

e Each project submission would be assigned against one of the three investment
priorities and assessed against other projects assigned to that same investment
priority. In Bromsgrove, it was recommended that 40 per cent of the funding
should be allocated against Communities and Place priority, 30 per cent
allocated to Supporting Local Business priority, and 30 per cent against People
and Skills investment priorities. The Government allowed flexibility to vary these
allocations by up to 30 per cent, where, for example, not enough projects were
submitted in one of these investment priorities.

e Members requested that further detail be provided with respect of the decision-
making arrangements for UKSPF fund allocations in Bromsgrove.

e Some Members requested that minutes of the Bromsgrove Partnership Board
Sub-Committee be made available to the Overview and Scrutiny Board to
enable transparency with regards to decision-making on UKSPF project
allocations.

15
Page 21



Agenda Iltem 5

Climate Change Strategy/Carbon Reduction Implementation Plan

The Net Zero Projects Manager from the Midlands Net Zero Hub provided a detailed
presentation on the Council’s Carbon Reduction Strategy and Action Plan and the
main points discussed included:

e Bromsgrove District Council’'s Carbon Reduction Strategy and Action Plan
covered exclusively the carbon dioxide emissions of the Council (including
emissions directly from the activities of the Council and emissions which the
Council had influence over).

e The Council’s carbon reduction targets were set in line with the Worcestershire
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) target of 50 per cent carbon dioxide
emissions reduction by 2030 and the ambition of becoming net zero by 2040.

e To reach an interim target of 50 per cent CO? emissions reduction by 2030, the
Council would need to reduce its emissions by approximately 41 tonnes of per
year. To achieve the net zero in the remaining 10 years to 2040, the Council
would need to deliver on a target of approximately 51 tonnes reduction per yeatr.

e The Council’s 3-year Implementation Plan identified that Bromsgrove District
Council emitted 818 tonnes of CO? in 2019 (the latest year for which data was
available). The latest CO? emissions figure for Bromsgrove District as a whole
was 669,200 tonnes per annum.

e The Council was successful in securing funding from the Public Sector
Decarbonisation Scheme for the Artrix, which would contribute to a carbon
reduction of 126 tonnes and a saving £16,000 per annum through the
installation of heat pumps and solar panels.

e The Council had also applied for ‘Public Sector Energy Efficiency Programme’
funding for decarbonisation of the Parkside building.

During the consideration of this item the Board agreed to submit the following set of
recommendations to the Cabinet:

1. that the latest figure, quantifying Bromsgrove District Council’s reduction in
carbon emissions (in tonnes) between 2019 and the present, be provided.

2. that Birmingham City Council be asked to engage in partnership working on
carbon reduction with Bromsgrove District Council and other Worcestershire
Councils, especially given that Lickey Hills Country Park, located mainly in
Worcestershire, is owned and maintained by Birmingham City Council.

3. that an easily accessible, infographic version of the Bromsgrove District Council
Carbon Reduction Strategy and Action Plan be produced for the benefit of
councillors and members of the public.

4. that Parish Councils be included as stakeholders in the Bromsgrove District
Council Carbon Reduction Strategy and Action Plan and its ongoing
development.

These recommendations were considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 26" October
2022. The Cabinet had agreed to an amended set of these recommendations as
follows:

16
Page 22



Agenda Iltem 5

1. All bordering Local Authorities be asked to engage in partnership working on
carbon reduction with Bromsgrove District Council and other Worcestershire
Councils and;

2. Parish Councils be included as stakeholders in the Bromsgrove District Council
Carbon Reduction Strategy & Implementation Plan and its ongoing
development and;

3. An easily accessible, infographic version of the Bromsgrove District Council

Carbon Reduction Strategy & Implementation Plan be produced for the benefit
of Councillors and members of the public on the website.

21st November 2022

CCTV Digitalisation Upgrade

The Head of Community and Housing Services presented a report on CCTV
digitalisation upgrade. Since the last update on the CCTV scheme in April 2022 a
further six camera locations in the District had been upgraded to digital and all cameras
forming part of the CCTV scheme had been replaced.

It was noted that although most transmission lines were now digital and many
analogue links had been replaced, three CCTV locations in the District remained on
analogue transmission. These analogue transmission cameras still provided day and
night surveillance capability. Members were informed that the Police and Crime
Commissioner (PCC) had provided funding to the Council’s CCTV project for the last
five years and Officers recommended that decision on upgrading the remaining
analogue cameras to digital be paused pending the Police and Crime Commissioner
(PCC) grant funding becoming available.

Following the presentation, Members discussed the viability of either funding the
upgrades to the remaining analogue cameras from the capital budget or holding
discussions with the PCC regarding provision of funding for this purpose. Officers
responded that the PCC was unlikely to be in a position to provide funding for this in
the next few years and that the Council should also be mindful of any additional capital
and revenue costs given current pressures. Most Members present were in agreement
about giving priority to upgrading the remaining analogue cameras to digital and with
this mind the Board made the following recommendations:

1. that £48,600 be included in the Capital Programme and £6,030 per annum in
the revenue budget as part of the review of the Medium Term Financial Plan for
the upgrade of CCTV cameras at Brook Road (Rubery), Wythall and
Alverchurch, and;

2. that all options for obtaining external funding for CCTV system upgrades be
pursued.

17
Page 23



Agenda Iltem 5

These recommendations were considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 18" January
2023. Recommendation 2 was agreed by Cabinet and recommendation 1 was
recommended for approval by the Full Council. Recommendation 1 was subsequently
approved by Full Council at its meeting on 25" January 2023.

Update on the Corporate Performance Dashboard

The Head of Business Transformation, Organisational Development and Digital
Strategy presented an update on the development of the Corporate Performance
Dashboard and in doing so reported that the dashboard was in the final stages of
development and would soon be available to view by Members and the public via the
Council’'s website. It was reported that the Council would opt, subject to Members’
agreement, to provide a public view of the dashboard as this did not entail having to
purchase individual Power Bl licences for each Member. This option also provided
greater flexibility for Members in that the publicly available dashboard could be
accessed from any PC that had an internet connection. Due to licensing policy for the
Power BI suite, it would not be possible to provide access to the dashboard on a
generic machine as licences were allocated to each named user.

It was anticipated the ongoing cost of the dashboard would not exceed £3,000 in
licence costs per year. In addition, there would be a saving in staff time spent on
populating the dashboard with data compared with the alternatives. The planned future
move to the use of automated processes to generate quarterly reports, for example,
would further reduce staff time costs. Members were informed that new performance
indicator measures would be added to the dashboard on an ongoing basis following
the live release.

Fuel Poverty Task Group — Final Report

The Chairman of the Fuel Poverty Task Group, Councillor R. Hunter, presented the
final report of the Fuel Poverty Task Group. During the discussion it was explained
that the Task Group had obtained evidence from a range of expert withesses
representing both the Council and external organisations and the Task Group’s
recommendations were evidence-based. These recommendations were ready to be
implemented and this action would be timely.

The Chairman of the Fuel Poverty Task Group further noted that some of the actions
outlined in the Task Group’s recommendations had already started to be taken, for
example a leaflet on fuel poverty had been produced by Officers which contained
useful information for residents.

Following the presentation, Members discussed the work of the Task Group and it was
noted that the Council and Act on Energy had undertaken publicity work to encourage
people to come forward if they were struggling with energy costs or were in fuel
poverty, and the Council had also sought to find ways to engage with those residents
who were eligible for help but did not come forward.

The Overview and Scrutiny Board agreed to recommend that the Cabinet adopt the
recommendations of the Fuel Poverty Task Group, subject to a minor change to
recommendation 6, to require that the Cabinet should actively explore all external

18
Page 24



Agenda Iltem 5

funding options available to the Council to support Voluntary and Community Sector
(VCS) groups. It was therefore recommended that:

1. The Council ensures its webpages are up to date and takes a proactive
approach in promoting the various areas of support (including an up to date list
of Warm Hubs/Spaces and support provided by local libraries in the District)
available through as many different mediums as possible. For example, through
its social media account and by learning from the best practice approaches
used by other Councils;

2. A poster or booklet is created which includes a simple straight forward guide to
all the various areas of support — this should be accessible in local buildings
such as the libraries and Councillors provided with copies to hand out to
residents or distribute for display on noticeboards;

3. Councillors are provided with the contact details of Act on Energy and
encouraged to proactively liaise with the outreach workers to ensure access to
support is readily available to residents within their Wards;

4. The Bromsgrove Partnership, supported by the Council, takes a lead role in the
collection of high quality intelligence/data to ensure that the Council’s partners
can target their interventions where support is most needed;

5. The Bromsgrove Partnership (with input from all District Councillors and/or
relevant Parish Councils) take a lead role in co-ordinating appropriate support,
to ensure it is readily available for residents throughout the whole district, for
example this could mean the provision of a Warm Hub/Space and the facilities
offered by the local libraries;

6. The Cabinet actively explores all external funding options (for example the UK
Shared Prosperity Fund) available to the Council in order to ensure that, if
needed, it is able to provide financial support to VCS organisations throughout
the district in providing the support detailed in recommendation 5 above.

These recommendations were approved by Cabinet at its meeting on 23 November
2022.

Finance and Budget Working Group — Update

The Chairman presented an update on the Finance and Budget Working Group
meeting of 17" November 2022, where the following matters were discussed:

¢ Update on the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2023/24 to 2025/26;

e The Notice of Motion which was referred for consideration of the Finance and
Budget Working Group by the Full Council on 3@ November 2021;

¢ Finance and Performance Monitoring Report Q2 2022/23; and,

e An update on Fees and Charges 2023/24.

With respect to the Notice of Motion, this related to a proposal submitted to provide
free short term car parking for Blue Badge holders in all Bromsgrove District Council

19
Page 25



Agenda Iltem 5

(BDC) owned car parks. Consideration was given to whether a business case could
be drawn up for this proposal and whether it was suitable to consider for consideration
as part of the budget setting process. The Chairman reported that at the Finance and
Budget Working Group meeting on 17" November 2022, most of the Members present
agreed that provision of free short term car parking for Blue Badge holders would be
prohibitively expensive for the Council at the current time. However, the Working
Group asked Officers to investigate if more up-to-date data could be found from
sources such as parking ticket machines, to determine the true demand for Blue
Badge parking spaces in Bromsgrove.

The Chairman announced that Councillor J. King had submitted a request to join the
Finance and Budget Working Group for the remainder of this municipal year. During
the discussion that followed, some Members argued in favour of holding a vote on the
matter at this meeting. The majority of Members, however, put forward a proposal to
defer making the decision on the matter to a future meeting to enable Officers to
prepare a report detailing the constitutional implications of a Councillor who was not a
Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board Member joining the Finance and Budget
Working Group. Thus, it was agreed that a decision on the matter be deferred to the
next scheduled meeting of the Board when an Officer report would be presented.

17t January 2023

Planning Enforcement Update

The Technical Services Manager for Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS)
provided a report around planning enforcement. It was noted the most desirable
outcome was always compliance by the offender within an acceptable timeframe.
When there was a breach of planning conditions, the enforcement action taken by the
local planning authority was proportionate to the severity of the breach in question and
a staged approach was adopted towards ensuring compliance, whereby a number of
warning letters would be issued to the applicant, and if this did not lead to resolution,
formal enforcement action would be taken, starting with Enforcement Notices
(including Stop Notices) and prosecution or injunction if no compliance had been
secured.

During consideration of this report, Members asked discussed a number of matters
related to enforcement and Officers provided answers to Members’ queries.

It was requested that data on the number of planning enforcement cases that had
been closed during the 2021-22 municipal year through to 10 November 2022 be
provided and Officers undertook to compile and distribute this information to Members.

Finance and Budget Working Group — Update

During this update, the Chief Executive presented a report on the constitutional
implications of allowing an elected Councillor who was not a Member of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board to join the Working Group. It was explained that under the

20
Page 26



Agenda Iltem 5

legislation non- Overview and Scrutiny Members were not precluded from joining any
of the Board’s Task Groups, provided they were not Members of the Cabinet or the
Chairman of the Council. It was also noted that under Section 15(5)(c) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, the political balance rules, did not apply to
Working Groups as these were not classed as ‘ordinary committees’ under the
legislation. Members were advised, however, that as of this meeting, other Members
of the Overview and Scrutiny ‘pool’ had not been consulted about this vacancy.

It was agreed by the Board that the membership of the Finance and Budget Working
Group should be restricted to a sub-group of members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board unless this option had been exhausted and a long-term vacancy had been
identified which necessitated a wider membership of the Overview and Scrutiny ‘pool’
to join the Working Group

The Board agreed that the following amendments be made to the Terms of Reference
of the Finance and Budget Working Group, to apply from the start of the municipal
year 2023-24:

1. The Working Group shall comprise 7 Members, to be made up of 6 Members
(who are Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board) plus the Chairman of
the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee.

2. Should a vacant post remain after Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
had been approached, members of the Overview and Scrutiny “pool” (i.e. those
who do not sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Board and are not Cabinet
Members) may be appointed to fill the vacancy.

Levelling Up Fund Update — Purchase of Windsor Street Site and Former Market
Hall Site

The Board received an operational update with respect to progress in the delivery of
the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) projects (LUF0297) in Bromsgrove Town Centre. The
update covered the period September 2022 — January 2023 for the two projects taking
place at Windsor Street Site and the Former Market Hall Site.

With regards to the Windsor Street Site, the Board was informed that:

e The Environment Agency (EA) provided a positive response to the remediation
strategy that had been prepared for the Site.

e The draft remediation specification and monitoring plan had been prepared and
would now be reviewed before submission to the EA.

e Soft market testing period for finding a remediation contractor had been
extended following Programme Board agreement as additional procurement
frameworks had to be approached due to a risk of inadequate number of returns
by interested contractors.

e Going forward two procurement frameworks would be used, the Pagabo and
the Consortium Procurement Construction (CPC) frameworks.

21
Page 27



Agenda Iltem 5

With regards to the Former Market Hall Site, the Board was informed that:

e One Creative Ltd would be appointed as the project’s technical adviser and cost
consultant following procurement exercise in November 2022.

e RIBA stage two closed in December 2022 with the brief for the design team
including proposals for the Main Building to be a mix of open plan office spaces
and adaptable workspaces with food and beverage provided on the ground floor

e Proposals for the Pavilion Building were to provide a two-storey pavilion-style
building with a covered area to perform as a market square and the ground floor
to be adaptable to hosting a range of community events and festivals.

The Board also received an update on the financial implications of the Levelling Up
Fund (LUF) projects at Windsor Street (Former Fire Station) and Former Market Hall
Sites.

(During the consideration of this item, Members discussed matters that necessitated
the disclosure of exempt information. It was therefore agreed to move to exclude the
press and public prior to any debate on the grounds that information would be revealed
which related to the financial and business affairs of any particular person (including
the authority holding that information)).

8" February 2023

Review of the work of North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership
2022-23

Local authorities were required to scrutinise and review the work of the local Crime
and Disorder Reduction Partnership on an annual basis. At this meeting the work of
the local crime and disorder reduction body, the North Worcestershire Community
Safety Partnership (NWCSP), had been scrutinised by the Board, focusing on the work
undertaken by the Partnership in Bromsgrove District.

Members received a detailed presentation and held a detailed debate on the
NWCSP Plan for 2021-24, the core funding of NWCSP, and the grants available to
the Partnership through the West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and
how they had been spent within Bromsgrove District. An update was also received
on the initiatives of the Partnership, including the Community Safety Project updates
for 2022-23. Case studies were also presented on Tibberton Improvement Project
and on the resolution of a long standing anti-social behaviour (ASB) problem at Wast
Hills, Hopwood boundary with West Heath, to showcase the positive impact that the
Partnership had in reducing crime and disorder.

There was also a discussion regarding local initiatives, particularly with young people
including the Empowering Young People Project, Youth Outreach, Young Citizen’s
Challenge, Bromsgrove Youth Hub, and The Respect Programme.

The Community Safety Partnership Manager and the Community Safety Project
Officer presented the Review, and the information was well received by Members,
who were grateful for such a detailed overview of the work of the Partnership.

22
Page 28



Agenda Iltem 5

13th March 2023

Overview & Scrutiny Board Report — Damp & Mould

The Board received a report on damp and mould in Bromsgrove District properties,
detailing what powers the Council possessed regarding property standards and how
Bromsgrove District Housing Trust (BDHT), a local registered provider, were dealing
with this issue. It was noted that BDHT held approximately 86 per cent of the social
housing stock in the district and thus were not the only social housing provider. Several
other providers also operated in the district, and they were subject to the same
responsibilities and requirements with regards to maintaining housing standards.

It was reported that:

e |t was estimated based on the English Housing survey data that around 440
private rented sector properties in Bromsgrove suffered from damp and mould.

e In the last three years the Council’s Private Sector Housing Team completed
on average 62 Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) inspections
per year in Bromsgrove.

e The Housing Act 2004 introduced the HHSRS. It was a calculation of the effect
of 29 possible hazards on the health of occupiers and any visitors and during
inspections Officers assessed properties against all 29 hazards.

e The HHSRS applied equally to all tenures, therefore all enforcement options
were available to the Council regardless of whether the premise in question
was owner occupied, privately rented or a Registered Providers (RP) property.

During discussion some of the matters which were highlighted were as follows:

e Enforcement was built around a process of escalation and as such prosecution
would only be considered in serious circumstances such as a deliberate,
negligent, or persistent breach of legal obligations.

e The Council’s Private Sector Housing Team would undertake a thorough
assessment of the property based on HHSRS before determining whether
damp and mould were occurring at a property due to lifestyle of property
occupiers or due to structural issues, for example penetrative damp occurring
from blocked gutters.

e A tenant could request inspection by calling the Private Sector Housing Team,
but the landlord would also be informed and would need to be present at the
proposed visit. In circumstances where the landlord was uncooperative, the
inspection could take place without the landlord being present.

e External wall insulation would normally not cause damp to occur. Instead, the
issue was that properties were becoming more sealed through so with no air
circulation, which caused condensation and, in turn, mould. It was noted that
this was often linked to lifestyle choices where occupants left windows and
ventilation vents permanently shut and/or did not turn the heating on.

e Government guidance was awaited on powers available if tenants were not
cooperating with the advice given on how to tackle mould/damp issues and the
condition of the property was deteriorating due to negligence.

23
Page 29



Agenda Iltem 5

Former Market Hall Site Proposal — pre-scrutiny

The Board was informed that Bromsgrove District Council had been awarded £14.5m
of Levelling Up Funding from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities (DLUHC). Almost £11m of this funding was allocated to the
redevelopment of the Former Market Hall Site. In respect of allocation of funding, it
was clarified that Levelling Up Funding could not be allocated to any other projects
due to the strict funding criteria.

It was reported that public consultation was currently underway in Bromsgrove
regarding the Community Hub proposal along with proposals for a high quality office
building at the Former Market Hall site. The consultation was open for comments
online on the Council’'s website until 215t March 2023.

It was highlighted that alongside the landmark office space, a rooftop bar and a high
guality restaurant were also included in the design for Former Market Hall Site. These
plans were designed to provide diversity and choice for visitors to Bromsgrove Town
Centre. It was also noted that demand for premium office space in Bromsgrove had
recently been evidenced in a report published by GJS Dillon regarding the
Worcestershire Commercial Property Market.

(During the consideration of this item, Members discussed matters that necessitated
the disclosure of exempt information. It was therefore agreed to move to exclude the
press and public prior to any debate on the grounds that information would be revealed
which related to the financial and business affairs of any particular person (including
the authority holding that information)).

29t March 2023

Provision of Street Name Plates

A report on Street Name Plates (SNPs) provision within Bromsgrove District was
presented by the Environmental Services Manager. It was clarified that the Council
had responsibility for the repair and maintenance of Street Name Plates (SNPs) on
adopted roads. This included replacement, when necessary, either due to accidental
damage, vandalism or normal wear and tear. On new developments, it was the
developer’s responsibility to erect SNPs initially to the Council’s specification.

It was reported that the Council’s contract with the existing approved manufacturer of
street name plates was due to finish at the end of this financial year. A quotation
exercise was due to be undertaken shortly to ascertain the manufacturer to be
contracted for the next three years.

It was explained that SNPs were being ordered in bulk due to the saving on delivery
costs that this option provided. Damage to SNPs was usually reported by the general
public or Members. After a site inspection to determine what remedial works would be
required, the damaged sign might be added to the order for the supply of a new SNP,
with the manufacturer taking on average 6 weeks to complete the order after it had
been raised.

24
Page 30



Agenda Iltem 5

Members discussed the annual budget currently allocated for replacement of street
name plates and most Members felt that the current budget of £3,900 per year was
too low to provide appropriate coverage of replacement and that the budget should be
increased on the basis that at least two new signs per Ward would need to be installed
per year.

A motion was agreed by the Board that it be recommended to Cabinet that it consider
a report on Street Name Plates including data on the number of signs replaced each
year and the newly tendered price per sign (including delivery), and that it be
recommended that Cabinet agree to the annual budget for Street Name Plates (SNPs)
to be increased to a level suggested as appropriate by Officers. The following two
recommendations were agreed by the Board:

1. A report on Provision of Street Name Plates be presented to Cabinet.

2. The budget allocation for provision of Street Name Plates be reviewed by
Cabinet and increased as per Officer recommendation of the aforementioned
report.

These recommendations are due to be considered by Cabinet at its next meeting,
currently scheduled for 71" June 2023.

Electric Vehicle Charging Update

An update on the provision of electric vehicle charging points within Bromsgrove
District was provided. It was explained that the Council was looking to increase the
number of charging points within the District providing ‘off-street’ charging facilities for
residents with no access to their own charge point.

Currently, four detailed responses were received to the tender for this service which
were being evaluated before the contract could be awarded. The prospective
contractors were provided with a selection of locations (as listed in the report to the
Board) some of which did not have chargers and others which only had one charging
point in place. These were initial locations proposed for charging point installation and
the rationale was that once the Council had engaged with a contractor, additional
locations could be discussed at a later stage.

Some Wards were currently not on the list for charging point installation. This included
Rubery South Ward where there had been delays due to contractor issues.

Fly Tipping and Environmental Enforcement Update

The Board received the briefing note and the matters highlighted included:

¢ Incidence of fly-tipping in the District had been decreasing and the number of
recorded to date in 2022-23 had been the lowest recorded in the last eight
years.

e The cost of environmental crime incurred by the Council had been reducing
over the last 8 years. Nevertheless, the Council still had to spend almost
£100,000 per year in tackling environmental crime.

25
Page 31



Agenda Iltem 5

e Demand for fly-tipping monitoring had been greater than the resource available
to the Council and there were two cases of fly-tipping captured on CCTV
footage that were currently followed up as active cases.

Members requested that Officers undertake the following actions:

e Review national legislation with respect to the maximum distance allowed for
placement of CCTV warning signs away from the camera (without necessitating
the use of RIPA legislation).

e Add a standing item on fly-tipping and environmental enforcement to the
Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme, to be considered on a bi-
annual basis.

Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme

The Board agreed to cancel the meeting scheduled for 17" April 2023 due to the pre-
election period and agreed to this Annual Report for 2022-23 being considered at the
first meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board in the 2023-24 municipal year.

Conclusion of the 2022-23 Year

The year was concluded with special mention and note of thanks to two long-standing
Councillors and current Members of the Board, Councillors C. Spencer and Councillor
R. Deeming, for whom this was the last year on the Council.

Councillor C. Spencer served as a Bromsgrove District Councillor for twenty
consecutive years from the 2003-04 municipal year. Councillor Spencer represented
Slideslow Ward and was the Chairman of Bromsgrove District Council from 2015 to
2019.

Councillor R. Deeming served as a Bromsgrove District Councillor for thirty-two years,
having first joined the Council in 1987-88 municipal year. Councillor Deeming
represented Cofton Ward. Among Chairmanship positions held over the years,
Councillor Deeming had most recently been serving as the Chairman of the Licensing
Committee in the current municipal year (2022-23).

Members of the Board expressed their gratitude to Councillors R. Deeming and C.
Spencer for their stunning contribution to residents of Cofton and Slideslow
respectively, and to Bromsgrove District as a whole.

The Chairman also took the opportunity to thank the rest of the Board for their
contributions. Councillors A. Kriss, M. Middleton, and the Vice-Chairman, Councillor
J. Till, were thanked for their service to the Council as it was noted they were not
contesting the upcoming elections.

26
Page 32



Agenda Iltem 5

WORCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HOSC)

The Council’s representative on this Committee must be a Member of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board and is required to provide the Board with regular updates on the
work being carried out.

The Board’s representative for the municipal year 2022/23 was Councillor S. Baxter.

During the year Councillor Baxter highlighted the following areas and responded to
guestions from Members:

e Ambulance Hospital Handover Times

e Mental Health provision in Worcestershire (including Hill Crest MH Ward)

e Physiotherapy Services and Elective Surgery

e Maternity Services in Worcestershire

e Community Ambulances and Primary Care (GP) Access within Worcestershire
e Health Inequalities resulting from the Covid-19 Pandemic

e Medical Staff Shortages.

27
Page 33



Agenda Iltem 5

WORKING GROUPS — UPDATE
Background to Working Groups

In 2022-23 the Board continued to have a dedicated Finance and Budget Working
Group. This had enabled a dedicated group of Members to consider these areas in
both more detail and in a timelier manner and had also, when necessary, enabled
Members to feed through any recommendations to Cabinet more promptly.

The terms of reference for the Finance and Budget Working Group were agreed by
the Board and were regularly reviewed to ensure that the work being carried out
remained relevant. This year the Board agreed to make some changes to the Finance
and Budget Working Group terms of reference which are to be implemented from the
start of 2023-24 municipal year. A review of the Working Groups, as part of the review
of the overall Overview and Scrutiny Board function, had historically taken place at the
April meeting. This year it was agreed that the April meeting would be cancelled and
the Board’s Annual Report be considered at the first meeting of the Board in the 2023-
24 municipal year, where the Working Groups would also be reviewed.

Finance & Budget Working Group

Membership: Councillors C. A. Hotham (Chairman), Councillors S. R. Colella, R.
Hunter, A. D. Kriss and J. Till

This Group met on four occasions this year and the Portfolio Holder for Finance and
Enabling has attended all the Group’s meetings, together with the Interim Director of
Finance and the Head of Finance and Customer Services.

The list below contains some of the reports which the Working Group has considered
and gives an insight into the work that has been carried out:

e 2023/24 Budget
e Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2025/26
e The Financial Outturn Report

e Blue Badge Motion which had been submitted by Councillor S. Robinson at the
Full Council meeting held on 39 November 2021

e Council Tax Empty Homes Discounts and Premiums report
e Fees and Charges

Once again, by being able to consider a number of reports in more detail and prior to
their consideration at Cabinet, Members of the Board were able, via the Working
Group, to play an increased part in the budget setting process.

Corporate Performance Working Group

As detailed in the previous year’s Annual Report it was agreed by Members of the
Board that the Corporate Performance Working Group would no longer meet in 2022-
23. It was deemed more appropriate to scrutinise the Performance of the Council at
the main Board meetings every 6 months.

28
Page 34



Agenda Iltem 5

In 2022-23, The Board considered items on the Performance Dashboard Update on
two occasions and the Board was also regularly updated on the progress in
implementing the Performance Dashboard throughout 2022-23 municipal year.

TASK GROUP INVESTIGATIONS & SHORT, SHARP REVIEWS CARRIED OUT

The detailed final reports of all these investigations can be found on the Council’s
website within the Overview and Scrutiny section.

Fuel Poverty Task Group

Membership: Councillors R. Hunter (Chairman), S. Baxter A.B Beaumont, M.
Glass, H. Rone-Clarke, J. King, C. Spencer, and K. Van Der Plank

The outcome on the Fuel Poverty Task Group investigation can be found earlier in this
report in the ‘Reports Considered by the Board’ section — 215t November, Fuel Poverty
Task Group — Final Report.

29
Page 35



Agenda Iltem 5

Conclusion

A significant amount of pre-scrutiny work has been carried out by the Board throughout
the year and based on detailed discussions a number of recommendations had been
made to Cabinet and Full Council. Some of these recommendations were
subsequently approved by the decision-making bodies. In addtion to this, the work of
the the Finance and Budget Working Group has been useful in providing Members
with an opportunity to look at complex finance reports in some considerable detail.
During the year one task group (the Fuel Poverty Task Group) had also concluded
and made a number of constructive recommendations which were accepted by
Cabinet. Overall, this was a positive and constructive year for the Overview and
Scrutiny function in Bromsgrove.

30
Page 36



Agenda Iltem 5

FURTHER INFORMATION

Overview and Scrutiny Board Meetings

Overview and Scrutiny Board meetings are open to the public. To find out more visit
our website at http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-
scrutiny.aspx or telephone 01527 881288 and ask to speak to the Democratic
Services Officer.

Public Involvement

If you would like to have your say on issues being considered by Overview and
Scrutiny or to suggest a topic for consideration you can emalil
scrutiny@bromsgrove.gov.uk or complete the form on the Council's website at
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-scrutiny/public-
participation.aspx

Giving Evidence

Members of the public or organisations with a special interest or knowledge about a
particular topic being considered by Overview and Scrutiny can put forward evidence
to a Committe or appear as a witness to give evidence for an investigation. If you think
you or your organsation might be able to participate in an issue currently under review,
please contact us.

If you have a personal issue with a Council service you may find it more useful to
contact your local ward Councillor who can help you decide the best way to take it
forward.

Contact Overview and Scrutiny

If you would like to find out more about any aspect of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
then you can email scrutiny@bromsgrove.gov.uk or telephone 01527 881288 and ask
to speak to the Democratic Services Officer.

Overview and Scrutiny
Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services
Bromsgrove District Council

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove B61 8DA

31
Page 37


http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
mailto:scrutiny@bromsgrove.gov.uk
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-scrutiny/public-participation.aspx
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/council/the-council/overview-and-scrutiny/public-participation.aspx
mailto:scrutiny@bromsgrove.gov.uk

Agenda Iltem 5

This page is intentionally left blank

32
Page 38



Recommendation Tracker Update
Overview and Scrutiny Board
June 2023

RECOMMENDATION TRACKER REPORT

1. SUMMARY

This Recommendation Tracker lists all recommendations to Cabinet made by the Overview and Scrutiny Board and its sub-groups in 2022-
23 (including Working Groups and Task Groups) until implementation is complete.

The recommendations are by (Task Groups and Working Groups recommendations have to be ratified by the parent Overview and Scrutiny

Board);

S

t% A. Fuel Poverty Task Group

w

© B. Finance and Budget Working Group
C. Overview and Scrutiny Board

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

\v/

2.1 That the Board notes the Recommendation Tracker, considers the status of the recommendations, and agrees to the removal of any items(Q
which the Board feel have been completed.

9 WS}l epus



external funding for CCTV
system upgrades be pursued.

Subject and Actions Lead Date Comments Completion
Date of Meeting Officer completion Date and
requested required RAG Rating
Street Name Recommendations: Guy April 2023 Update AMBER
Plates Revans These recommendations are due to be
1. Areport on Provision of Street considered by Cabinet at its next
29 Mar 2023 Name Plates be presented to meeting, currently scheduled for 7th June
Cabinet. 2023.
2. The budget allocation for
provision of Street Name
Plates be reviewed by Cabinet
and increased as per Officer
recommendation of the
aforementioned report.
CTVv Recommendations: Judith Willis January 2023 Update
igitalisation
‘%Jpgrade 1. that £48,600 be included in the These recommendations were
IN Capital Programme and considered by Cabinet at its meeting on
@1 Nov 2022 £6,030 per annum in the 18" January 2023. Recommendation 2
revenue budget as part of the was approved by Cabinet at this meeting.
review of the Medium Term
Financial Plan for the upgrade Recommendation 1 was recommended
of CCTV cameras at Brook for approval by the Full Council, and this
Road (Rubery), Wythall and was approved by Full Council at its
Alverchurch, and; meeting on 25" January 2023.
2. that all options for obtaining

RED — Overdue

— Ongoing GREEN - Completed

9 wa)| epuaby



Fuel Poverty Recommendations: Policy November 2023

Task Group - Team

Final Report The recommendations of the Fuel All 6 recommendations were approved
Poverty Task Group were agreed by by Cabinet at its meeting on 23

21 Nov 2022 the Board as follows and referred to November 2022,

Cabinet for approval:

1. The Council ensures its
webpages are up to date and
takes a proactive approach in
promoting the various areas of
support (including an up to
date list of Warm Hubs/Spaces
and support provided by local
libraries in the District)
available through as many
different mediums as possible.
For example, through its social
media account and by learning
from the best practice
approaches used by other
Councils;

T abed

2. A poster or booklet is created
which includes a simple
straight forward guide to all the
various areas of support — this
should be accessible in local
buildings such as the libraries
and Councillors provided with
copies to hand out to residents
or distribute for display on
noticeboards;

3. Councillors are provided with
the contact details of Act on

RED - Overdue — Ongoing GREEN - Completed

9 wa)| epuaby



21 abed

Energy and encouraged to
proactively liaise with the
outreach workers to ensure
access to support is readily
available to residents within
their Wards;

The Bromsgrove Partnership,
supported by the Council,
takes a lead role in the
collection of high quality
intelligence/data to ensure that
the Council’s partners can
target their interventions where
support is most needed,;

The Bromsgrove Partnership
(with input from all District
Councillors and/or relevant
Parish Councils) take a lead
role in co-ordinating
appropriate support, to ensure
it is readily available for
residents throughout the whole
district, for example this could
mean the provision of a Warm
Hub/Space and the facilities
offered by the local libraries;

The Cabinet actively explores
all external funding options (for
example the UK Shared
Prosperity Fund) available to
the Council in order to ensure
that, if needed, it is able to

provide financial support to

RED — Overdue

— Ongoing GREEN - Completed

9 wa)| epuaby



VCS organisations throughout
the district in providing the
support detailed in
recommendation 5 above.

Climate Change Recommendations: Judith Willis May/June 2023 Update

Strategy/Carbon

Reduction 1. that the latest  figure,

Implementation quantifying Bromsgrove District November 2022

Plan Council’s reduction in carbon The recommendations were considered
emissions (in tonnes) between by Cabinet at its meeting on 26th

24 Oct 2022 2019 and the present, be October 2022. The Cabinet had agreed
provided. to an amended set of recommendations

as follows:
2. that Birmingham City Council

be asked to engage in 1. All bordering Local Authorities be
partnership working on carbon asked to engage in partnership

ey abed

reduction with  Bromsgrove working on carbon reduction with
District Council and other Bromsgrove District Council and
Worcestershire Councils other Worcestershire Councils

. . . na;
especially given that Lickey and
Hills Country Park, located 2. Parish Councils be included as
mainly in Worcestershire, is stakeholders in the Bromsgrove
owned and maintained by District Council Carbon Reduction
Birmingham City Council. Strategy & Implementation Plan

and its ongoing development and,;
3. that an easily accessible,

infographic  version of the 3. An easily accessible, infographic
Bromsgrove District Council version of the Bromsgrove District
Carbon Reduction Strategy and Council Carbon Reduction

Action Plan be produced for the Strategy & Implementation Plan

be produced for the benefit of
Councillors and members of the
public on the website.

benefit of councillors and
members of the public.

RED - Overdue — Ongoing GREEN - Completed

9 wa)| epuaby



4. that Parish Councils be
included as stakeholders in the
Bromsgrove District Council
Carbon Reduction Strategy and
Action Plan and its ongoing
development.

— Pre-Scrutiny

30 May 2022

Head of Planning, Regeneration and
Leisure Services and the Executive
Director of Resources to proceed to
spend the Levelling Up Fund
allocation up to a total of £2.266m on
the required demolition and
remediation works at the Windsor
Street site and to engage a design
and build contractor on the Market

Hall site:”

Air Quality Recommendation: Guy May/June 2023 Update
Annual Update that Cabinet invite Richard Williams, Revans
Principal Officer (Planning & Pollution This recommendation was considered by
5 July 2022 Control), Worcestershire Regulatory Cabinet at its meeting held on 12th
Services, to a meeting to present October 2022 and a further presentation
information on Electro Chemical was given my Mr. Williams. He explained
Devices, which provide real time that there were new options for
g-? information on air pollution. With a monitoring, including chemical based
% view to Cabinet looking at the cost testing that was mobile and could be
o implications, advantages, and viability deployed in different locations as
N of installing an Electro Chemical needed. Although there were financial
Device in a pilot scheme in the District implications of £4,000 to purchase and
to assess the advantages of using £2,000 to maintain Cabinet agreed the
such equipment. recommendation as proposed by the
Board.
Levelling Up Recommendation to Cabinet: Ruth May/June 2023 Update
Phase 1 Funding | “that authority be delegated to the Bamford

This recommendation was agreed by
Cabinet at its meeting held on 1%t June
2022.

RED — Overdue

— Ongoing GREEN - Completed

9 wa)| epuaby



ltem 7/

Agenda
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 6" June
2023
SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION PROPOSAL
Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Karen May
Portfolio Holder Consulted -
Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton, Head of Legal,
Democratic & Property Services

Report Author:

Mat Sliwinski Contact email:

Job Title: Democratic Services Officer

mateusz.sliwinski@bromsqgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Wards Affected

All

Ward Councillor(s) consulted

No

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s)

N/A

Non-Key Decision

advance of the meeting.

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Overview and Scrutiny Board is asked to consider the request
as detailed in paragraph 2.1 of this report and agree to one of the

following:

(@)

that the request is included on the work programme and the

Board considers the matter as an item of business at its

next meeting; OR

(b)

that the request is included on the work programme and a

Short Sharp Review is agreed to enable a more in-depth
investigation of the matter, and that the broad terms of
reference and timescales for the Review are agreed; OR

(€)

that further information be requested from a relevant

source before deciding whether or not further investigation

is required; OR

(d)

that the Board decides to take no further action.

Page 45



mailto:mateusz.sliwinski@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 6" June
2023

2. BACKGROUND

2.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Board are requested to investigate the
possibility of transition of Bromsgrove District Council from the current
‘leader and cabinet’ model of governance to a ‘committee system’. This
follows a Notice of Motion put forward by Councillor P. McDonald at the
Council meeting held on 24" May 2023 as follows:

“We call upon the officers of the Council to prepare a report into the
transition of the Council from a Cabinet System to that of a Committee
System. The report is to be presented to an Extraordinary Meeting to
be held in September.”

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES

3.1  Arequest from full Council has been made to investigate the possibility
of the Council transitioning from a Cabinet System to that of a
Committee System.

3.2 If the Board decides that it does wish to investigate this topic further, it
then needs to decide whether it is appropriate for the Board itself to
undertake the investigation at its regular meetings or whether a more
in-depth investigation is required in a form of a short-sharp review.

3.3  Another option is for the Board to request further information on the
topic from a relevant source to assist Members to decide whether an
investigation is required.

3.4  Alternatively, the Board could decide that it is not a topic it wishes to
investigate, in which case no further action would be required.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1  There are no financial implications directly relating to this report,
however, if the proposal is accepted, any implications would be
considered as part of the subsequent investigation undertaken.

Page 46



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 6" June
2023

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no legal implications directly relating to this report, however,
if the proposal is accepted, any implications would be considered as
part of the subsequent investigation undertaken.

6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS

Relevant Strateqgic Purpose

6.1  Governance underpins all of Council’s strategic purposes.

Climate Change Implications

6.2  There are no climate change implications at this stage. The green
thread runs through the Council plan.

Equalities and Diversity Implications

6.3  There are no equalities implications at this stage.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

7.1 Not applicable at this stage as this report is asking to consider the
various options relating to the investigation of the Notice of Motion.

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Overview and Scrutiny Board 6t June
2023

Finance and Budget Working Group

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Charles Hotham

Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes

Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton, Head of Legal,
Democratic and Property Services

Report Author: | Job Title: Democratic Services Officer
Mat Sliwinski Contact emaiil:
mateusz.sliwinski@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Wards Affected N/A
Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A
Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) N/A

Non-Key Decision

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in
advance of the meeting.

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Overview and Scrutiny Board is asked to:-

a) Appoint a Chairman of the Finance and Budget Scrutiny
Working Group;

b) Agree the Membership of the Finance and Budget Scrutiny
Working Group; and

c) Confirm the Terms of Reference of the Finance and Budget
Scrutiny Working Group.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working Group was set up by the
Overview and Scrutiny Board, a number of years ago, to carry out
detailed scrutiny/pre-scrutiny of a number of Financial Reports (listed in
the Terms of Reference) and the setting of the Council’s budget.

2.2  The purpose of this report is to formalise the membership of that Group
for the forthcoming municipal year and to confirm that the terms of
reference (updated during the 2022-23 municipal year) remain
relevant.

Page 49


mailto:mateusz.sliwinski@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Overview and Scrutiny Board 6t June
2023

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES

3.1 Chairman

Historically the Chairman of the Working Group has been the Chairman
of the Overview and Scrutiny Board. Members are asked to consider
whether they are happy with this arrangement to continue for the
forthcoming municipal year. If this is not the case then consideration
needs to be given as to how a Chairman would be appointed.

3.2 Membership

It has been agreed within the terms of reference that the Working
Group would be made up of the Chairman of the Audit, Standards &
Governance Committee and 6 Members of the Board with a quorum of
3. It is not specified as to whether that membership needs to be
politically balanced, although it would be good practice to have each
political group represented.

Members are asked to choose the Members of the Board who wish to
be represented on the Working Group. For any Member wishing to put
his/her name forward for this Working Group s/he needs to be aware
that it meets as and when the need identified is identified, but during
the budget setting period meetings of the Working Group can be
frequent.

The Chairman of the Audit, Standards & Governance Committee will
be contacted about his membership on the Working Group in due
course.

3.3 Terms of Reference

The terms of reference are reviewed at the beginning of each municipal
year since the inception of the Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working
Group. They have also been reviewed and updated by the Overview
and Scrutiny Board during the 2022-23 municipal year.

Members are asked to consider whether they feel that these continue
to be relevant or whether there is a need for any amendments to be
made. The terms of reference are not exhaustive and from time to time
the Working Group have considered a number of items at the request
of the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling. It remains at
the discretion of the Working Group as to whether they carry out these
additional pieces of work.

Page 50



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Overview and Scrutiny Board 6t June
2023

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1  There are no direct financial implications in respect of this report.
Although it should be noted that there are resource implications in
respect of officer time in attending and preparing for the meetings.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1  There are no direct legal implications relating to this report, other than
those in respect of the Overview and Scrutiny function as a whole. The
Working Group is currently not constituted, but merely an arrangement
set up by the Overview and Scrutiny Board to improve its working
going forward in respect of scrutinising the budget and finances of the
Council.

6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS

Relevant Strateqgic Purpose

6.1 The work of the Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working Group
contributes towards ensuring that the Council continues to provide
sustainable services to its residents.

Climate Change Implications

6.2  There are no climate change implications in respect of this report.

Equalities and Diversity Implications

6.3  There are no direct customer/equalities and diversity implications in
respect of this report.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

7.1  No specific risks have been identified.

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix 1 — Terms of Reference of the Finance & Budget Scrutiny
Working Group (updated January 2023).

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY BOARD — Finance & Budget Scrutiny Working Group

Terms of Reference as at January 2023

This Terms of Reference shall apply from the start of the 2023/24 Municipal
Year

The Finance & Budget Scrutiny Working Group has been set up by the Overview &
Scrutiny Board to carry out detailed scrutiny/pre-scrutiny of a number of Financial
Reports (listed below) and the setting of the Council’s budget.

1. The Working Group shall comprise 7 Members, to be made up of 6 Members
(who are Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board) plus the Chairman of the
Audit, Standards and Governance Committee. The quorum shall be 3. The
Working Group will meet throughout the year at intervals dependent upon the
reports to be considered. It is anticipated that this will be most frequent during the
budget setting period.

2. Should a vacant post remain after members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
had been approached, members of the Overview and Scrutiny “pool” (i.e. those
who do not sit on the Scrutiny Board and are not Cabinet Members) may be
appointed to fill the vacancy.

3. The Working Group will be a standing item on the agenda of the Overview &
Scrutiny Board and either a verbal or written report will be provided at each of the
Board’s meetings.

4. The Working Group is able to make recommendations in one of two ways
(dependent on the timescales of its meetings and the reports it considers); by
reporting back to the Overview & Scrutiny Board who will then put forward its
recommendations for consideration by Cabinet or directly to Cabinet/Council.

5. The work of the Working Group will be reviewed as part of the Overview &
Scrutiny Board’s annual report process.

The Working Group will scrutinise the following reports, which had previously been
part of the Overview & Scrutiny Board’s Work Programme:

e Finance Monitoring Report (on a quarterly basis)
e Write Off of Debts Report (received annually)

Budget Scrutiny

Scrutiny of the budget will cover the following areas, although this list is not
exclusive.

o Full review of the cost centres for actual spend, involving comparable figures
for consecutive years.

o Assessing income levels.

o Considering the quarterly budget monitoring report.

January 2023
Page 53



Agenda Iltem 8

o Reviewing the capital programme and borrowing costs.

o Commenting on the report format for budget reports to Committee.

o Considering links to the strategic purposes.

o Scrutinise business cases in respect of investment opportunities identified by
the Council.

J Investigating new pressures on savings.

o Reviewing reserves and balances.

o Assessing any sources of external funding that has been received.

January 2023
Page 54



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

WORK PROGRAMME

2023-2024

RECOMMENDATION:

Agenda Item

That the Board considers and agrees the work programme and updates it

accordingly.

ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS

12

Date of Meeting

Subject

Additional Information

6™ June 2023

Council Notice of Motion of 24" May 2023
— Committee System

Proposed by Councillor
McDonald

Overview and Scrutiny Board — Annual
Report 2022-2023

To be presented by the
Chairman of the Board

Overview and Scrutiny Board -
Recommendation Tracker for 2022-23

To be presented by the
Chairman of the Board

Working Group Updates (Finance &
Budget)

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

10" July 2023

Grass Verge Maintenance — pre-scrutiny

Due to be considered by
Cabinet in July 2023

Decarbonisation of the Council Fleet — pre-
scrutiny

Due to be considered by
Cabinet in July 2023

Bromsgrove Town Centre Regeneration -
Land at the Dolphin Centre and at Windsor
Street — pre-scrutiny

Due to be considered by
Cabinet on 12" July 2023

Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan —
pre-scrutiny

Due to be considered by
Cabinet on 12th July 2023

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

11" September
2023

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

16" October 2023

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

Page 55



Agenda Item 12

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

20" November
2023

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

16" January 2024

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

12" February 2024

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

11t March 2024

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

15" April 2024

Working Group Updates

Any Task Group Updates

WCC Health Overview & Scrutiny
Committee — update from Representative

Cabinet Work Programme

Iltems for consideration in 2023 — 2024 (not assigned date yet)

Page 56



Agenda Item 12

When considering topics for investigations Members may wish to take into
account the Council’s Strategic Purposes as detailed below:

———__—— -

Run & grow a successful business Y| V72t does this
2 mean to me?

Businesses choose to

4 come to Bromsgrove
& grow here, providing
services & jobs.
Further development
enhances the town &
district centres as places
that people want to visit. |

Improved connectivity
makes life easier,
whether that's on the
roads or online.

As an entrepreneurial area, supporting business is incredibly important for the
District. Through North Worcestershire Economic Development & Regeneration
we will continue to support new businesses. We will also work with established
companies within the District to help them grow & flourish.

We are committed to making the Town & district centres places that residents &
visitors can enjoy & that attract a variety of businesses.

Priority:
Economic
development
& regeneration

We will:

Consult businesses to
understand current
needs & growth plans,
working with partners to
support business growth.

How we will measure it:
- Number of businesses engaged
through the consultation

- Number of existing businesses
supported to grow & develop

Page 57 3



Agenda Item

Work & financial independence )

; What does this
' mean to me?

There are more
opportunities for young
people, with the right
skills for local businesses.

: Money management
8 support will help to
reduce debt & increase
financial confidence.

People get the benefits
they are entitled to,
when they need them.

Why?

The economic picture for Bromsgrove District is positive, with consistently low
unemployment. However, the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (specifically
income, employment & education indicators) show there were issues,
particularly in parts of Charford & Sidemoor.

We will support our residents to access work opportunities in new industries,
focusing on the skills agenda. We will also work with residents to help them
manage their money & access the right benefits.

Priority:
Skills for the future

We will:

Undertake a skills audit with
partners & work together with
them to address any gaps.

How we will measure it:
- Number engaged through
the skills audit.

Page 58 4



Agenda Item 12

Live independent,

active & healthy lives ¥ | What does this |
A .y Y§ mean to me?

People are supported
to maintain a healthy
lifestyle.

Communities &
. individuals feel less
§ isolated.

There are more
positive things to do
through improved
access to sport &
cultural activities.

Why?

Whilst the health of people in Bromsgrove District is generally good, health
priorities include improving mental well-being, increasing physical activity & ageing
well. Increasing numbers of people living with reduced mobility, dementia & diabetes
are an issue for the District. Through the Bromsgrove Partnership, Bromsgrove
District Council will continue to play its part in addressing these issues.

We also want to enhance sport & cultural opportunities in the District,
which will have health & social benefits.

Priority: Improving
health & well-being

We will:
Support targeted activities for
healthy lifestyles.

How we will measure it:

- Number of people accessing
targeted activities

- Number of people with diabetes

- Number of people who have had
a stroke

Page 59 5



Agenda Item 12

‘- ' 1 W
Affordable & sustainable homes What does thi

mean tome?

More affordable &
appropriate homes
become available.

Private tenants
have homes which
are safe & tenancies
which are secure

& affordable.

Homes can adapt
to changes in
circumstances & are
increasingly energy
efficient.

Why?

Bromsgrove has the highest level of home ownership in Worcestershire, & the
smallest private rented sector in the county; demand for housing within the
district has had a significant impact on property prices.

Access to affordable housing is recognised as an issue, as is ensuring homes are
sustainable into the future.

Priority: A balanced
housing market

We will:
Develop & implement a
District Housing Strategy.

How we will measure it:
- Number of affordable homes
(commitments & completions)

Page 60 6



Agenda Item 12

Communities which are safe, What does this

mean to me?

Crime & anti-social behaviour
reduces even further & the

‘t fear of crime also starts to
AdopT AN AREA |  ESSchien
The district is well-maintained

E people feel involved in
keeping it clean.

well-maintained & green

It's easier to recycle more &
reduce waste going to landfill.

Why?

Bromsgrove District Council has committed to playing its part in addressing the
impact of climate change; from work to increase recycling to support to reduce

fuel poverty, a gEaiGET runs throughout this Council Plan.

It is important to ensure that Bromsgrove remains attractive for everyone, &
our Place Teams, in partnership with local communities, provide a strong service
across the District.

The District is a low crime area; through the North Worcestershire Community
Safety Partnership we continue to work hard to address the causes of crime
& anti-social behaviour & to support victims.

YOU CAN'T BE THE
‘IN-CROWD® FROM

OUTSIDE Priority: Reducing

f 3 crime & disorder
- | v We will:
Target the causes of crime
ad

affecting the night-time economy.

BAMHED FROM OME, ! How we will measure it:

BANNED FROM ALL L . :
. . - Anti-social behaviour reports in

the Town & district centres
- Crimes in the Town & district
centres

Page 61 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

BROMSGROVEDISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

13TH MARCH 2023, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors C.A. Hotham (Chairman), J. Till (Vice-Chairman),
S. J. Baxter, A. J. B. Beaumont, R. J. Deeming, S. P. Douglas
(substitute) R. J. Hunter, A. D. Kriss and C. J. Spencer

Observers:

Councillor K. J. May (Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder
for Economic Development, Regeneration and Strategic
Partnerships)

Councillor S. A. Webb (Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and
Health and Well Being)

Officers: Mrs. S. Hanley, Mr P. Carpenter (on Microsoft Teams),
Mr. M. Bough, Mr. O. Paparega, and Mr. M. Sliwinski.

72/22 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor S. Colella, with
Councillor S. Douglas attending as named substitute, and Councillor H.
Jones.

73/22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS

Councillors J. Till and A. Kriss declared interests in Minute No. 74/22 -
Overview & Scrutiny Board Report — Damp & Mould in their capacity as
private sector landlords. It was advised that this item was for information
only and detailed the scale of the mould and damp issue in the District
and what powers the Council possessed regarding property standards.
Therefore, both Members remained at the meeting for the discussions in
respect of this item.

74/22 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY BOARD REPORT - DAMP & MOULD

The Board received a report on damp and mould in the district, detailing
what powers the Council possessed regarding property standards and
how Bromsgrove District Housing Trust (BDHT), a local registered
provider, were dealing with this issue. It was noted that BDHT held
approximately 86 per cent of the social housing stock in the district and
thus were not the only social housing provider. Several other providers
also operated in the district, and they were subject to the same
responsibilities and requirements with regards to maintaining housing
standards.

Page 63



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

It was noted that according to the 2021 census tenure data, there was a
roughly even split of social rented and private rented properties in
Bromsgrove at about 4,400 of each.

It was explained that it could be estimated based on the English Housing
survey data that around 440 private rented sector properties in
Bromsgrove suffered from damp and mould. However, the records
showed that in the last three years the Council’s Private Sector Housing
Team completed on average 62 Housing Health and Safety Rating
System (HHSRS) inspections per year in Bromsgrove. This suggested
that issues with mould and damp were likely under-reported and it was
believed that this was due to fear of landlords serving notice and a lack
of awareness of the service provided by the private sector housing team.

The full range of powers available to the Council in terms of enforcement
of property standards was outlined and it was reported that the Council
had the power of entry to properties at any reasonable time to carry out
its duties under Section 239 of the Housing Act 2004. When there was a
significant risk to the health and safety of the occupant, due to category
1 or category 2 hazards, the Council had the power to issue Prohibition
Orders to prohibit the use of all or part of the property — this applied to
both private rented properties and social rented properties. It was
underlined, however, that informal route to resolving situations was
taken whenever possible, without resorting to formal notices or legal
action.

It was noted that the Housing Act 2004 introduced the HHSRS. It was a
calculation of the effect of 29 possible hazards on the health of
occupiers and any visitors and during inspections Officers assessed
properties against all 29 hazards. HHSRS calculation provided a
combined score for each hazard.

The HHSRS applied equally to all tenures, therefore all enforcement
options were available to the Council regardless of whether the premise
in question was owner occupied, privately rented or a Registered
Providers (RP) property.

It was noted that social tenants had recourse to approach social housing
regulator with regards to complaints about standards of housing
provided by the social landlord.

Following the presentation of the report, Members asked questions to
which the following responses were provided:

e Officers undertook to find out and report to Members how many
formal notices were served in the District over the last three years
following HHSRS inspections. It was highlighted that the vast
majority of cases were resolved through the informal route without
recourse to formal notices.

Page 64



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

Members requested that the appendices to the report be provided
and Officers undertook to provide this in a separate
communication to Members.

With regards to how and at what point Officers were able to
determine whether damp and mould were occurring at a property
due to lifestyle of property occupiers or due to structural issues,
for example penetrative damp occurring from blocked gutters, it
was noted that the Private Sector Housing Team would undertake
a thorough assessment of the property based on the HHSRS to
understand how damp occurred.

Members were informed that for BDHT properties, BDHT would
move tenants out during the rectification process at a property
where damp and mould was occurring.

It was noted that there was some evidence that in some of the
district's social housing properties, damp issues might be
attributed to insulation that was installed by housing providers at
those properties. Members were reassured that investigation into
this issue was ongoing.

It was clarified that it was the social housing providers, including
BDHT, who were responsible for and undertook insulation and
that this was not the remit of the Council.

Officers highlighted that external wall insulation would normally
not cause damp to occur. Instead the direct issue was that
properties were becoming more sealed through so that there was
no necessary air circulation, which caused condensation and, in
turn, mould. It was noted that this was often linked to lifestyle
choices where windows and ventilation vents were kept
permanently shut and/or heating was not being turned on.

Officers highlighted that social tenants received a leaflet advising
how mould and damp could be managed and there was also a
video available on the Council’'s website explaining how to
prevent mould from occurring.

It was explained that a tenant could request inspection by calling
the Private Sector Housing Team, but the landlord would also be
informed and would need to be present at the proposed visit. In
circumstances where the landlord was uncooperative, the
inspection could take place without the landlord present.

Members were informed that the Housing Enforcement Team did
not have enough resource to undertake proactive inspections.
Officers highlighted that the guidance on enforcement was built
around a process of escalation and as such prosecution would
only be considered in serious circumstances such as a deliberate,
negligent, or persistent breach of legal obligations.

It was explained that inspections followed a formulaic approach
where the condition of the property was assessed against each of
the 29 hazards as outlined in the Housing Health and Safety
Rating System (HHSRS). The full inspection and production of
report took approximately 2 hours. It was noted that if following
the inspection the Officers decided to take formal action, there

Page 65



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

would be fees to be paid by the person/organisation responsible
for the property.

e It was noted that the most common cause of damp is lack of
ventilation in rooms and advice would often be given with regards
of how to increase room ventilation. It was noted that in some
cases humidity extractor fans might be a possible option to tackle
the issue.

e |t was noted that government guidance was awaited on powers
available if tenants were not cooperating with the advice given on
how to tackle mould/damp issues and the situation worsened.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.

75122 BROMSGROVE 2040 VISION - PRE-SCRUTINY

This item was postponed to a later date on the Cabinet Work
Programme and as such could not be pre-scrutinised by the Overview
and Scrutiny Board at this meeting.

76/22 FINANCE AND BUDGET WORKING GROUP - UPDATE

The Chairman advised that the last meeting of Finance and Budget
Working Group took place on 9" February 2023. At that meeting the
2023-24 Budget was discussed. It was reported that one more meeting
of the Working Group was planned to take place at a date yet to be
determined.

RESOLVED that the Finance and Budget Working Group Update be
noted.

77/22 TASK GROUP UPDATES

There were no ongoing task groups to report on before the Board.

78/22 WORCESTERSHIRE ~ HEALTH OVERVIEW AND  SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE - UPDATE

Councillor S. Baxter, the Council’s representative on the Worcestershire
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) reported that a
meeting of the Committee took place on Monday 13" March 2023. The
matters discussed at this meeting included Hill Crest Mental Health
Ward, where it was reported that the inpatient numbers had been cut to
10 which followed ongoing safety problems. It was reported that
Physiotherapy Services and Elective Surgery were also discussed at the
meeting.

It was commented that while data regarding health provision and
facilities was concerning, the narrative needed to change to attract
healthcare workforce to Worcestershire — currently the workforce
shortages were preventing many of the changes taking place.

Page 66



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

It was reported that it was concerning that Wythall was not included in
Worcestershire Primary Care Network (PCN) datasets which made it
difficult to obtain accurate health profile of the population in North
Worcestershire which would allow actions to be put in place to improve
matters.

Members discussed the proposed plans for a medical school in
Worcestershire and it was reported that currently this was at an early
proposal stage and more information would become available in due
course. It was reiterated that shortages of key medical staff were acute
in Worcestershire, for example with a shortage of about 200 nurses in
the County.

RESOLVED that the Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee Update be noted.

79/22 CABINET WORK PROGRAMME

The Cabinet Work Programme was presented for Members’
consideration.

RESOLVED that the contents of the Cabinet Work Programme be
noted.

80/22 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME

It was proposed that an overview item be added to the Overview and
Scrutiny Board Work Programme on the wellbeing and support provided
to Ukrainian refugees in the District.

After a debate, Members were informed that County Councillors could
be contacted for more information regarding the support provided to
Ukrainian refugees in the District and that up-to-date information on this
were circulated via the Bromsgrove Partnership bulletin. Members were
further informed that there was a dedicated support worker for Ukrainian
refugees provided in Bromsgrove.

It was agreed that the available information and resources would be
consulted in the first instance and Members could decide to add this
item to the Board’s Work Programme at a future Board meeting.

RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme be
noted.

81/22 TO CONSIDER, AND IF CONSIDERED APPROPRIATE, TO PASS THE
FOLLOWING RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC FROM THE
MEETING DURING THE CONSIDERATION OF ITEM(S) OF BUSINESS
CONTAINING EXEMPT INFORMATION:-

RESOLVED: that under Section 100 | of the Local Government Act
1972, as amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during the

Page 67



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

consideration of the following item(s) of business on the grounds that
it/they involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Part | of scheme 12A to the Act, as amended, the relevant paragraph of
that part, in each case, being as set out below and that it is in the public
interest to do so:-

Iltem No Paragraph
11 3
12 3
82/22 FORMER MARKET HALL SITE PROPOSAL - PRE-SCRUTINY

The Leader of the Council was invited to introduce the report on the
Former Market Hall Site Proposal. She restated that Bromsgrove District
Council had been awarded £14.5m of Levelling Up Funding from the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).
Almost £11m of this funding was allocated to the redevelopment of the
Former Market Hall Site. In respect of allocation of funding, it was
clarified that Levelling Up Funding could not be allocated to any other
projects due to the strict funding criteria.

It was reported that public consultation was currently underway in
Bromsgrove regarding the Community Hub proposal along with
proposals for a high quality office building at the Former Market Hall site.
The consultation was open for comments online on the Council’s
website until 21st March 2023. Face-to-face consultation events were
also held at BirdBox and Bromsgrove Library, on 4th and 6th March
2023 respectively, where there was opportunity to see the designs,
share views, and talk to the architects and Officers working on the
project. Members were informed that further consultation was due to
take place on Monday 21st March 2023 with members of the Youth Hub
regarding use of the pavilion on the site.

It was highlighted that alongside the landmark office space, a rooftop bar
and a high quality restaurant were also included in the design. These
businesses, plus the additional coffee shops, were designed to provide
diversity and choice for visitors to Bromsgrove Town Centre. It was also
noted that demand for premium office space in Bromsgrove had recently
been evidenced in a report published by GJS Dillon regarding the
Worcestershire Commercial Property Market. The Community Hub.

Officers highlighted that although the original deadline for the completion
of funded projects was extended by central government for all projects
from March 2024 to March 2025, these remained very restrictive
timescales within which to deliver the redevelopment of the Former
Market Hall site.

(During the consideration of this item, Members discussed matters that
necessitated the disclosure of exempt information. It was therefore
agreed to move to exclude the press and public prior to any debate on
the grounds that information would be revealed which related to the

Page 68



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
13th March 2023

financial and business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information)).

83/22 TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING
OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD HELD ON 17TH
JANUARY 2023

The minutes of the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17t
January 2023 were considered including the exempt minutes record of
that meeting (Minute Item No. 66/22 — Levelling Up Fund Update —
Purchase of Windsor Street Site and Former Market Hall Site).

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
meeting held on Tuesday 17" January 2023 be approved as a true and
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

(During the consideration of this item, Members discussed matters that
necessitated the disclosure of exempt information. It was therefore
agreed to move to exclude the press and public prior to any debate on
the grounds that information would be revealed which related to the
financial and business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information)).

The meeting closed at 7.43 p.m.

Chairman

Page 69



Agenda Iltem 14

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

BROMSGROVEDISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

29TH MARCH 2023, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors C.A. Hotham (Chairman), J. Till (Vice-Chairman),
S. J. Baxter, A. J. B. Beaumont, A. D. Kriss, M. Middleton
(substitute) and C. J. Spencer

Observers: Councillor M. A. Sherrey — Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services and Community Safety (on Microsoft
Teams)

Officers: Mrs. S. Hanley, Mr. K. Hirons and Mr. M. Sliwinski.

84/2022 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S. Colella, R.
Deeming, and R. Hunter. Councillor M. Middleton attended the meeting
as a substitute for Councillor R. Deeming.

85/2022 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS

There were no declarations of interest nor any whipping arrangements.

86/2022 TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING
OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD HELD ON 8TH
FEBRUARY 2023

The minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting held on 8"
February 2023 were submitted for Members’ consideration.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
meeting held on 8™ February 2023 be approved as a true and correct
record and signed by the Chairman.

87/2022 PROVISION OF STREET NAME PLATES

[The meeting was adjourned between 6.03 and 6.13pm while technical
issues with remote attendance software were rectified to enable
participation by remote attendees]

A report on Street Name Plates (SNPs) provision within the District was
presented by the Environmental Services Manager. It was clarified that
the Council had responsibility for the repair and maintenance of Street
Name Plates (SNPs) on adopted roads. This included replacement,

Page 71



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

when necessary, either due to accidental damage, vandalism or normal
wear and tear. On new developments, it was the developer's
responsibility to erect SNPs initially to the Council’s specification.

SNPs were usually positioned at the rear of the adopted footway and as
near to street corners so they could be easily ready by drivers and
pedestrians alike and close to existing streetlamps where possible so
they could be illuminated at night.

It was reported that the Council’s contract with the existing approved
manufacturer of street name plates was due to finish at the end of this
financial year. A quotation exercise was due to be undertaken shortly to
ascertain the manufacturer to be contracted for the next three years.

It was explained that SNPs were being ordered in bulk due to the saving
on delivery costs that this option provided. Damage to SNPs was usually
reported by the general public or Members. After a site inspection to
determine what remedial works would be required, the damaged sign
might be added to the order for the supply of a new SNP, with the
manufacturer taking on average 6 weeks to complete the order after it
had been raised. It was added that over the period of Covid lockdowns,
there was a backlog of replacement works to SNPs. In addition, the
Council’'s Minor Works’ Team was understaffed during the past year.
These factors had resulted in delays to installation and/or replacement of
SNPs, which were reported as now being largely resolved.

Following the presentation of the report, the Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services and Community Safety addressed the Board to
the effect that considerations of providing a good quality street signage
should outweigh the need to wait on replacing signs until a bulk order
could be raised. The quality of street signs in some parts of the District
was also raised and it was noted that in some cases waiting times of 2-3
months for replacing signs had been reported.

The Environmental Services Manager was invited to respond and noted
that minimum quality requirements could be put as a criterion in the next
tender. It was noted, however, that quality of street signs in large part
depended on the quality of metal that was supplied to the manufacturers
in the first place. With regards to placing orders with suppliers for
replacement street signs, it was explained that a certain number of
replacement requests had to be accumulated before an order was
issued to the manufacturer, as separate orders would prove to be
uneconomical.

Following the presentation of the report, Members asked a number of
guestions to which responses were provided as follows:

e Members requested performance data to be provided on the

service target times for replacing street signage, average
response time to requests, longest waiting times, and current

Page 72



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

level of backlog on replacement works. Officers undertook to
provide Members with a briefing note containing this information.

e Officers had been asked to investigate signage at Saint
Godwald’s Crescent, as this was not a through road, but a sign
indicating this was currently provided only at one end of the road
junction. Officer present undertook to contact Officers to request
that a second sign be provided at Saint Godwald’s Crescent.

e The repair of street signs was undertaken by the Council in-house
and it took Officers on average one week to repair the sign
following a request being submitted. When the sign was damaged
and a new sign had to be ordered, the request took around six
weeks on average as orders were placed in batches.

e When street signs had raised lettering on press metal signs, the
Council could undertake repairs to paintwork and lettering in-
house. This was not possible with the more recent design of
street signs where lettering was on a flat surface.

e Members commented that when reporting a damaged street
name plate, they had to follow up cases directly with Officers as
there was currently no feedback system provided as to when the
street sign was likely to be ordered and fitted, and no notification
as to when works were completed to allow residents to be kept
informed. It was reported as a response that Members would
soon be able to access the new Environmental Services Portal,
where Members would be able to log in and track progress of all
their logged requests.

e With regards to using local suppliers, if Members were aware of
any specialised manufacturers of street signs in the local area,
they encouraged to forward details to Officers so such
manufacturers could be considered.

e There was no nation-wide standard around the style of street
signage, however, there were design standards concerning
lettering and colour of a street sign that had to be adhered to. It
was noted that the Council had a standard style as varying styles
of street signs from a standard set would lead to increased costs.

e Some Members expressed concern that the upcoming retender of
the contract for manufacturing and provision of street name plates
to the District could result in a lower quality of signs than currently
provided. An Officer responded that the current tender
specification defined the quality standard of materials required for
signage in the District.

e |t was noted that it was not financially viable for the Council to
produce its own signs or provide this as a service to other
authorities.

Members discussed the annual budget currently allocated for
replacement of street name plates and most Members felt that the
current budget of £3,900 per year was too low to provide appropriate
coverage of replacement and that the budget should be increased on the
basis that at least two new signs per Ward would need to be installed
per year.

Page 73



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

A motion was proposed by Councillor S. Baxter and seconded by
Councillor C. Hotham that it be recommended to Cabinet that it consider
a report on Street Name Plates including data on the number of signs
replaced each year and the newly tendered price per sign (including
delivery), and that it be recommended that Cabinet agree to the annual
budget for Street Name Plates (SNPs) to be increased to a level
suggested as appropriate by Officers.

On being put to the vote, the motion was carried.

RECOMMENDED that

1) a report on Provision of Street Name Plates be presented to
Cabinet.

2) the budget allocated for provision of Street Name Plates be
reviewed by Cabinet and increased as per Officer
recommendation of the aforementioned report.

88/2022 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING UPDATE

[At the discretion of the Chairman, item 6 on the agenda — Electric
Vehicle Charging Update — was considered before item 5 — Fly Tipping
and Environmental Enforcement Update]

An update on the provision of electric vehicle charging points within the
District was provided. It was explained that the Council was looking to
increase the number of charging points within the District providing ‘off-
street’ charging facilities for residents with no access to their own charge
point. To enable this the Council had undertaken an expressions of
interest consultation through the Crown Commercial Framework,
followed by a full tender exercise. Four detailed responses were
received which were being evaluated before the contract could be
awarded.

The Environment Services Manager reported that perspective
contractors were provided with a selection of locations (as listed in the
report to the Board) some of which did not have chargers and others
which only had one charging point. It was deemed appropriate to provide
the contractor with a number of locations to initially investigate and
propose for charging point installation. The rationale was that once the
Council had engaged with a contractor, additional locations could be
discussed at a later stage.

It was observed that some Wards in the District were currently not on the
list for charging point installation. In Rubery South Ward, it was reported
that the County Council allowed for installation of a charging point at the
Co-Op Food supermarket, but works had been delayed. There was also
a further charging point planned for Hagley West Ward at Webb’s
Garden Centre.

Page 74



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

It was reported that the responses received as part of the expressions of
interest exercise showed that numerous companies were prepared to
self-fund the installation of chargers and look after any necessary
maintenance and replacement in the future, which would remove the
need for the Council to pump prime the project and go through the grant
application process.

Members discussed whether public lamp posts could be considered as
charging point locations. The Environmental Services Manager
responded that this option was investigated, however, there was a safety
issue and cost implication where the lamp posts had been installed on
the far end of a pavement away from the road. Such charging points
would need to be operated on a three-phase electric supply (i.e. three-
wire AC power circuit) and appropriately metered. It was noted that few
companies were currently offering to install such charging points. As the
pathways and pavements belonged to the County Council as the
responsible authority, any companies approaching Bromsgrove District
Council on this issue were referred to the County Council.

Some Members queried whether Council land that had not been utilised
by the Council but was used without permission by private individuals
could be considered for EV charging point locations. The Environmental
Services Manager commented that new sites could be added to the list
of locations as this was a list of initial locations that would be proposed
to the contractor.

Members discussed the wider cost implications of electric vehicles and
the viability of installing charging points in the context of ongoing rises in
the cost of electricity and future implications given new emerging
technologies such as hydrogen fuel.

RESOLVED that the update be noted.

89/2022 FLY TIPPING AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT UPDATE

A briefing note on fly tipping and environmental enforcement was
provided to Members.

The Chairman addressed the Board and summarised the main points of
the briefing note as follows:

e Incidence of fly-tipping in the District had been decreasing and
the number of recorded to date in 2022-23 had been the lowest
recorded in the last eight years. It was noted, however, that
incidents differed with respect to quantity of waste dumped and
the lower incidence did not necessarily mean that the total volume
of waste fly tipped was smaller.

e The cost of environmental crime incurred by the Council had been
reducing over the last 8 years. Nevertheless, the Council still had
to spend almost £100,000 per year in tackling environmental
crime.

Page 75



90/2022

Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

e The Council had increased over the last two years the use of
warning signs and had invested in more advanced camera
systems to improve evidence gathering capabilities. This had
been successful in reducing fly-tipping but there had also been an
increase in the number of locations where fly-tipping was
occurring, possibly as signage had diverted fly-tippers to non-
regular locations.

e Demand for fly-tipping monitoring had been greater than the
resource available to the Council and there were two cases of fly-
tipping captured on CCTV footage that were currently followed up
as active cases. There was one instance of encrypted monitoring
equipment stolen from site despite being installed covertly.

e The Environmental Service had been considering the use of fully
covert surveillance without signage and was represented on the
Council’'s RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000)
group that was overseeing the use of covert surveillance in
compliance with national legislation. The evidence that had been
collected by the Service at a number of ‘hot spot’ locations for fly-
tipping would be used to support application to be made under
the RIPA legislation.

e The initiative by West Mercia Police of promoting the use of smart
water kits for identifying fly tipping of tyres had not produced any
results to date, despite a number of garages across Bromsgrove
and neighbouring authorities signing up to the scheme. This
would continue to be monitored throughout 2023.

e In terms of fly-tipping enforcement, there were currently two Fixed
Penalty Notices issued and awaiting payment, and one
Community Protection Warning that was being considered for
escalation to a Community Protection Notice for non-compliance.
It was highlighted that prosecution through the courts for fly-
tipping was a lengthy and difficult process.

Following the address by the Chairman, Members made a number of
comments and requested that following actions be undertaken by
Officers:

e that national legislation be reviewed with respect to the maximum
distance allowed for placement of CCTV warning signs away from
the camera (without necessitating the use of RIPA legislation).

e that an item on fly-tipping and environmental enforcement be
included on the Overview and Scrutiny Board agenda on a bi-
annual basis.

RESOLVED that the update be noted.

CABINET WORK PROGRAMME

The Cabinet Work Programme was presented for Members’
consideration.

Page 76



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

RESOLVED that the contents of the Cabinet Work Programme be
noted.

91/2022 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Board considered the work programme for the remainder of 2022-
23 municipal year. It was agreed that due to the pre-election period the
meeting of the Board due to take place on 17" April 2023 be cancelled
and that outstanding items on the work programme for that date, the
Overview and Scrutiny Board Annual Report 2022-23, and the Board’s
recommendation tracker, be considered at the first meeting of the Board
in the new municipal year.

The Chairman concluded the meeting by offering special thanks to
Councillors R. Deeming and C. Spencer for their exceptional service to
the Council. The Chairman noted that this would be the last meeting of
Overview and Scrutiny Board and last year of service for both
Councillors.

Councillor C. Spencer had served as a Bromsgrove District Councillor
for twenty consecutive years from 2003-04 municipal year. Councillor
Spencer represented Slideslow Ward. She served as the Chairman of
the Council from 2015 to 2019.

Councillor R. Deeming had served as a Bromsgrove District Councillor
for thirty-two years, having first joined the Council in 1987-88 municipal
year. Councillor Deeming represented Cofton Hackett Ward. Among
Chairmanship positions held over the years, Councillor Deeming had
most recently served as the Chairman of the Licensing Committee in the
current municipal year (2022-23).

Members of the Board expressed their gratitude to Councillors R.
Deeming and C. Spencer for their stunning contribution to residents of
Cofton and Slideslow respectively, and to Bromsgrove District as a
whole.

The Chairman also took the opportunity to thank Councillors A. Kriss, M.
Middleton, and the Vice-Chairman, Councillor J. Till, who were not
standing for re-election, for their hard work and contribution to the
Council. All Members of the Board were thanked for their hard work in
this municipal year. Members also extended their thanks to Officers for
their work in supporting the Board throughout 2022-23.

RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 be
considered as an agenda item at the first meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board in 2023-24 municipal year.

The meeting closed at 7.20 p.m.

Page 77



Agenda Iltem 14

Overview and Scrutiny Board
29th March 2023

Chairman

Page 78



Agenda ltem 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Overview and Scrutiny Board Annual Report 2022-23
	6 Overview and Scrutiny Board - Recommendation Tracker for 2022-23
	7 Notice of Motion - Request to Investigate
	8 Finance and Budget Working Group - Membership Report
	Appendix 1 - TofR of Finance & Budget Scrutiny Working Group (amended 20230119)

	12 Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme
	14 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 13th March 2023 and 29th March 2023
	Minutes
	29.03.2023 M PUBLISHED
	Minutes

	13.03.2023 M CONFIDENTIAL (PUBLISHED TO ATTENDEES)


